FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/18/2020 2:12 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/18/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99333-5

No. 79876-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ABUBACARR WAGGEH,

Petitioner,

v .

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, and MIKE OBENLAND, and DANIEL W. WHITE, SUPERINTENDENT OF SPECIAL OFFENDER UNIT/INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT UNIT,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gary W. Manca, WSBA #42798 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner Abubaccar Waggeh

A. INTRODUCTION

In spring 2020, as millions of Americans protested systemic racism, the Justices published a letter vowing to "make just decisions in individual cases" and to apply the Court's authority "in a way that brings greater racial justice to our system as a whole." App. 25–26. Since then, the Court has agreed to review a case involving anti-Black bias in a civil jury trial. But the Court has not, to petitioner's knowledge, granted review of a case under the Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD"), RCW 49.60.

It should do so now. Division I's decision resurrects an old "good faith" defense for employers, and it discounts the relevance of the proximity in time between an employee's anti-racist opposition activity and job termination. It clashes with the "substantial factor" standard for a jury to find unlawful discrimination or retaliation—a standard which this Court recently held is applicable not just at trial, but also on summary judgment.

But more is at stake than a legal standard. Department of Corrections ("DOC") whistleblowers have come forward about racism pushing out Black corrections officers. They say DOC decision-makers have responded insufficiently to remedy this workplace discrimination, even perpetuating it. Rooting out discrimination everywhere is urgent, but especially within DOC institutions, where a disproportionate percentage of the inmate population is Black. Black inmates, once in DOC custody, are treated worse

than white inmates. Unless DOC welcomes people of all races to serve as officers, Washington risks further "devaluing black lives." App. 25.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Abubaccar Waggeh was the plaintiff and the appellant below. A Black man, he was as a DOC corrections officer. CP 121, 661.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I's unpublished opinion is reproduced in the appendix ("App.") at 1–23, and the order denying reconsideration at App. 24.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether an employer may be liable for employment discrimination (RCW 49.60.180) or retaliation (RCW 49.60.210) when the employer knew or should have known that accusations that an employee committed misconduct were false, exaggerated, or tainted by illicit motives.
- 2. Whether close proximity in time between an employee's protected opposition activity and an employer's firing decision suffices to create a jury question under the "substantial factor" standard for retaliation.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The problem of racism against Black corrections officers has been a long-standing problem, according to reports¹ and this case's evidence. Some years ago, for example, the Washington State Patrol investigated white supremacism among correctional officers at the Washington State

Petition for Review - 2

¹ Jennifer Vogel, "White Guard Black Guard," *Seattle Weekly* (Oct. 9, 2006); AP, "Prison Staff Face Probe for Alleged Racist Remarks Two Corrections Officers Disciplined at Shelton Facility," *Spokesman-Review* (Aug. 23, 1997), https://www.spokesman.com/stories/1997/aug/23/prison-staff-face-probe-for-alleged-racist/.

Corrections Center in Shelton. Two officers were suspended, and the State Patrol found racial division among staff. *Id.* Around that time at the Clallam Bay Corrections Center, white corrections officers told their black coworkers that "N****s aren't allowed here." *Id.* Besides these facilities, "[c]omplaints of racism have come from points all over the state." *Id.* In fact, DOC has paid out many employment discrimination claims. *Id.* Between 2008 and 2015, when Waggeh was a DOC corrections officer, 58 DOC employees sued DOC for discrimination or retaliation. CP 161.

A Black sergeant and supervisor at the Monroe Correctional Complex ("MCC") recently detailed the racism and retaliation plaguing the MCC. CP 154–57. "I have observed racism and sexism at Monroe for many years," attests Sergeant Melvin Hopkins, who knew Waggeh. CP 107, 154. "The leaders in upper management at Monroe in 2015, even at the highest levels, knew there was lots of racism and sexism there," says Sergeant Hopkins, "but they didn't do anything about it." CP 155. He explains, "If the good old boys didn't want you around, they often tried to make you miserable enough that you would want to quit." *Id.* He recalls another Black officer who was "outstanding" but "was constantly being targeted by white supervisors." CP 156. "Because the racism works so well for the managers who want to get rid of the African Americans," it persists. *Id.*

Waggeh, who was born in Africa, worked as a corrections officer at

the MCC, primarily in the minimum security unit's visitors' room, between 2008 and 2015. CP 121, 661. Another officer, H.M., who worked with him in the visitors' room, described Waggeh as "cheerful" and "always courteous." CP 159. But not everyone had the same reaction to Waggeh. Waggeh recounts, for example, that a white fellow officer once told Waggeh that he "always acted like I knew everything," referring to Waggeh's knowledge of DOC policies and procedures. CP 125.

Less than a year after he started, Waggeh emailed a sergeant to oppose shift changes and to object to the sergeant's admonition that Waggeh had "poor judgement." CP 252. Waggeh emailed, "I think you [are] doing this to me because [I] am black." CP 252. His email criticized the MCC's "good ol' boy system" and told his supervisors that he would not let them "use [their] position to bully" him. CP 253. Waggeh later filed a union grievance alleging discrimination in another matter too. CP 591.

Waggeh admits that, after sending this email, he "was repeatedly accused" of misconduct and disciplined with reprimands, pay reductions, and cuts in work hours, but he insists the accusations were false. CP 122, 255–382, 662; Appellant's Reply Br. at 4–7. Sergeants called him "unprofessional," "insubordinate," and "disrespectful," and claimed that

Petition for Review - 4

² See generally, Elspeth Reeve, "Yep, 'Uppity' Is Racist," *The Atlantic* (Nov. 22, 2011), https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2011/11/yep-uppity-racist/335160/.

Waggeh violated a protocol in the visitors' room. CP 258, 296. Sergeants soon claimed also that Waggeh was "standing around not doing anything" and arriving late "quite frequently." CP 290, 292. DOC alleged he had driven a DOC-owned van for personal use. CP 122, 255. But he had not; he had driven it at a sergeant's request to perform an official task. CP 122.

Inmates got in on the act. In 2011, inmate B.J. accused Waggeh of behaving inappropriately toward B.J.'s girlfriend. CP 124, 163. As Waggeh pointed out later, some inmates "often have motivations to stir up trouble for an officer they don't like or often for an officer they perceive is not liked for one reason or another by DOC supervisory officers." CP 123–24. In fact, B.J. made the allegation only after DOC confronted him about a recorded phone call between B.J. and his girlfriend arranging for her to smuggle in marijuana to the MCC. CP 163. Once confronted, this innate claimed that "[s]kinheads are running most everything and don't want the blacks to have anything." CP 163. Despite skinheads supposedly running the drug ring, B.J. alleged Waggeh (again, a Black man) was allowing drugs in. CP 164.

Soon after B.J.'s claims about Waggeh, DOC officers searched Waggeh's car in the MCC parking lot, claiming that a drug-sniffing dog had "alerted." CP 124, 280–85, 585. But they found no drugs. *Id.* Still, the officers told their co-worker that he was "high." CP 124. He agreed to take a drug test at a nearby hospital, which found he had no drugs in his system.

Id. Back at the MCC, Waggeh's fellow officers treated him like he was drunk, offered him a ride home, and said they would call the police if he drove home on his own. *Id.* All this played out in the parking lot where inmates and visitors could see. *Id.* It was, Waggeh says, "humiliating." *Id.*

DOC investigated the accusations that Waggeh treated inmates' female visitors inappropriately but none, at the time, were found credible. CP 124, 591–92. Then, in late 2014, another inmate accused Waggeh of flirting with the inmate's female visitor and asking for the woman's phone number. CP 151, 373–74. But when DOC asked the woman, she said Waggeh had not acted inappropriately and that she had asked for his phone number, not the other way around, because her profession was network marketing. CP 152. H.M., Waggeh's coworker, said he had "not witnessed or seen CO Waggeh harass any offender or their family member." CP 159.

Still, DOC re-opened B.J.'s previously discredited claims that Waggeh had slept with a female who was in DOC community custody at the time. CP 318–20, 352–55. The woman, M.G., told a DOC investigator that Waggeh had gone on a date with her and had sex with her. CP 443–46. But Waggeh denied it, CP 323, and discrepancies marked her unsworn testimony. She said Waggeh had tattoos; Waggeh later showed the DOC investigator that he did not. CP 141, 433, 435. The "witnesses" timeline was impossible. CP 148, 320–22, 444; Appellant's Br. at 14. As DOC's

investigation went on, Waggeh filed a discrimination grievance with his union and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC"), which Superintendent Daniel White knew about. CP 59. Soon after, White fired him, citing the M.G. matter. CP 537–44. Her allegations, if true, would have been a felony disqualifying Waggeh from working at DOC. Yet DOC later offered Waggeh his job back (he declined). CP 146, 166–69.

After DOC fired him, Waggeh applied for unemployment benefits, and an administrative law judge ("ALJ") rejected DOC's claim that Waggeh committed misconduct. CP 145–49. Although DOC's White presented at the hearing, the ALJ was not persuaded. CP 145. The ALJ emphasized that "the timeline does not coincide regarding [] the alleged incidents." CP 148.

Waggeh sued DOC for discrimination and retaliation, but the trial court granted summary judgment for the defense before the appointed jury trial. CP 88–85, 757–71. The court then denied reconsideration. CP 26–28.

Division I affirmed. App. 1–23. The court relied on *Domingo v*. *Boeing Emp. Credit Union*, 124 Wn. App. 71, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004)—a decision which pre-dated *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 444, 334 P.3d 541 (2014), and which this Court criticized in in *Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cty.*, 189 Wn.2d 516, 404 P.3d 464 (2017)—and held that DOC was not liable because it had "in good faith, believe[d] that [Waggeh] had engaged in the misconduct." App. 18–20. Division I

acknowledged "the inconsistencies in the reporting witnesses' statements." App. 20. But the court looked at "the context of the investigation as a whole" and opined that the inconsistencies "do not *preclude* a good faith belief that Waggeh engaged in misconduct." *Id.* (emphasis added). While the record did not *preclude* a jury finding of good faith, Division I did not inquire whether the record would *compel* a jury to make that finding. *Id.*

Division I failed to ask other questions. The court did not ask whether, even if DOC truly believed Waggeh committed misconduct, a jury could find that retaliation or Waggeh's race was nevertheless a substantial factor in DOC's decision. App. 17–21. Division I also did not address the proximity in time between Waggeh's complaint to the EEOC and his firing, nor did the court mention Waggeh's earlier complaints. *Id.* Division I also did not ask whether DOC's decision was unlawfully tainted, even if White had acted in good faith, by the false accusations of Waggeh's superiors, coworkers, and current and former inmates. *Id.* The court did not consider whether, given the ALJ's finding, a reasonable jury could find the same. App. 17–21. After affirming, Division I denied reconsideration. App. 24.

F. ARGUMENT

(1) Racial Discrimination and Unlawful Retaliation Against Black DOC Corrections Officers Is an Urgent Issue

An especially compelling reason for review is to consider the troubling reports of racism in a critical state agency. RAP 13.4(b)(4). As

WLAD says, discrimination is "a matter of state concern." RCW 49.60.010. Racism, the Legislature has found, "threatens ... the rights and proper privileges of [Washington's] inhabitants" and "menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state." *Id.* The urgency has only increased as the legal community awakens to a harsh reality—"the injustices faced by black Americans are not relics of the past." App. 25. Eradicating racism in employment is especially urgent within this state's law enforcement agencies. But nearly four decades have passed since this Court reviewed a WLAD claim against such an agency. *Franklin Cty. Sheriff's Office v. Sellers*, 97 Wn.2d 317, 646 P.2d 113 (1982). The time has come again.

And it is this Court's role. Of course, the judiciary lacks power to mandate how executive officers perform their discretionary duties in "[t]he administration of correctional institutions." *Colvin v. Inslee*, 195 Wn.2d 879, 897–98, 467 P.3d 953 (2020). But the judiciary and the executive branches "must remain intertwined ... to maintain an effective system of checks and balances" and to ensure the public is served by "an effective government." *Carrick v. Locke*, 125 Wn.2d 129, 135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994) (citation omitted). The constitution empowers the judiciary "to say what the law is," *Colvin*, 195 Wn.2d at 898, and nothing entitles executive officials to flout the law. So this Court has the power—and responsibility—to review whether DOC's employment decisions comply with WLAD.

DOC administrators appear to have left unchecked, and even perpetrated, racism in DOC workplaces. CP 125, 154–57, 161; Vogel, *supra* n.1. Since the State Patrol's investigation, Black DOC officers and supervisors have continued to witness and experience racism. CP 125, 154–57, 161. Indeed, Sergeant Hopkins observed the same "good old boys" problem that Waggeh identified when he first complained about discrimination in 2008. CP 155, 253. Sergeant Hopkins described a pattern of behavior—targeting Black officers—that pushed out another Black officer too. CP 154–57. This alarming report warrants urgent attention.

Racism in DOC's firing decisions is a significant problem not just for DOC employees, but for Black inmates. Nearly 18% of inmates are Black, while only about 5% of the state's general population is. Once in DOC facilities, Black inmates receive worse treatment: A DOC study found racial disparities in offender work programs, in custody levels, and in prison infractions.³ From this data, a fair conclusion is that Black inmates suffer "systemic injustice," perhaps from the "conscious and unconscious biases," App. 25, of corrections officers—a rank composed of disproportionately fewer Black men and women than in the prison population. *See* DOC, *supra*

DOC, Fact Card (Sept. 30, 2020), available https://www.doc.wa.gov/docs/publications/reports/100-QA001.pdf (last accessed Dec. 14, 2020); U.S. Census Bureau, QuickFacts: Washington, https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/WA; DOC, Policy Review: Racial Disparity, https://www.doc.wa.gov/docs/publications/reports/200-SR001.pdf.

- n.3. The danger is "systemic oppression of black Americans." App. 25.
 - (2) <u>Division I's Decision Conflicts with the Allison–Mackay</u> "Substantial Factor" Test and with *Cornwell*

While that festering problem alone justifies review, this case also presents inconsistences in Washington anti-discrimination law. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review is warranted on this additional ground.

(a) <u>Division I's "Good Faith" Standard Clashes with the</u> "Substantial Factor" Test

Division I's good-faith standard does not reconcile with a fundamental element of WLAD—the liberal "substantial factor" standard for finding a causal link between an adverse employment action and the employee's race or opposition activity. In RCW 49.60.180(2), WLAD prohibits employers from firing an employee "because of" race. In RCW 49.60.210(1), it bars employers from firing an employee "because" the employee opposed discrimination. While the word "because" in these provisions might suggest a strict "but for" causation standard, that narrow reading has long been discarded. In *Allison v. Housing Authority of City of Seattle*, 118 Wn.2d 79, 85–86, 821 P.2d 34 (1991), this Court concluded that a "but for" causation for retaliation claims would impose "too harsh a burden" and could "encourage employers to fabricate pretexts to discharge employees who have brought discrimination claims or testified against their employers." *Id.* at 95. To better support WLAD's purposes, this Court

fashioned the "substantial factor" test, importing it from tort law's multiple-causation cases. *Id.* A multi-causation test should apply to retaliation claims, this Court explained, because it holds employers accountable when both "legitimate and illegitimate motives ... lurk." *Id.* After *Allison*, in *Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc.*, 127 Wn.2d 302, 306–07, 310, 898 P.2d 284 (1995), this Court confirmed that the same test applies not just to retaliation claims, but also to discrimination claims under RCW 49.60.180.

Division I's "good faith" standard clashes with this *Allison–Mackay* test. RAP 13.4(b)(1). A "good faith" test prevents a jury from considering whether an illegitimate reason accompanied any legitimate reasons for an employer's action. To be a substantial factor, the employee's race or opposition activity need not be the only reason, or even "the main reason." WPI 330.01.01, *cited with approval in Scrivener*, 181 Wn.2d at 444; *Currier v. Northland Servs., Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 733, 746, 332 P.3d 1006 (2014), *review denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1006 (2015). An illegitimate reason need only "tip[] the scales." *Id.* (quotation omitted). But that liberal test would become a nullity if an employer could avoid liability by pointing to its good-faith belief in a legitimate reason. Under *Allison–Mackay*, having a legitimate reason is only the start—not the end—of the analysis.

Scrivener further exposes the rupture that Division I has created in Washington anti-discrimination law. Before Scrivener, when the Court of

Appeals applied the well-known *McDonnell Douglas* framework on summary judgment, the lower court required employees to disprove their employer's stated legitimate reason for its action. This Court rejected that view as incompatible with *Allison–Mackay*, affirming that "[a]n employer may be motivated by multiple purposes, both legitimate and illegitimate, when making employment decisions and still be liable under the WLAD." 181 Wn.2d at 447. Thus, even if employees admit or cannot prove the pretext behind their employer's stated legitimate reason, summary judgment is not appropriate if a jury could find that "discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer." *Id.* at 448.

While Division I mentioned this rule in passing, App. 17, the court did not apply it, nor did the court inquire whether the "good faith" standard from *Domingo*, 124 Wn. App. 71 was still good law. App. 17–21. *Domingo* was not only abrogated on another ground in *Mikkelsen*, 189 Wn.2d 516, but it also exhibited the same error that *Scrivener* held was a fatal flaw in a Division II case. *Scrivener*, 334 Wn.2d at 448. Namely, *Domingo* omitted the possibility that a "substantial factor" is enough to satisfy the *McDonnell Douglas* framework's third step. 124 Wn. App. at 88.

Division I's decision undercuts *Allison–Mackay*, as expanded by *Scrivener*, also because it erodes their policy underpinnings. *See* RCW 49.60.020 (liberal construction directive); *Allison*, 118 Wn.2d at 94 ("The

'substantial factor' test is based more on policy considerations than ... the 'but for' test." (quotation omitted)). As *Allison* explains, employees' enforcement of WLAD—in which they play "the role of a private attorney general"—would be unacceptably difficult if they had to "show precisely what factors ... actually motivated an employer." *Id.* at 86, 96 (quotation omitted). Yet Division I's "good faith" test focuses on employers' subjective state of mind.⁴ In its place, the law should focus on what employers *objectively* believed. That is, if an employer *should have* known that accusations were false or tainted due to the "conscious and unconscious biases," App. 25, of others, a jury may find the employer's "good faith" to be "unworthy of belief," and thus the reason, while legitimate, was pretextual. *Kuyper v. State*, 79 Wn. App. 732, 738, 904 P.2d 793 (1995), *review denied*, 129 Wn.2d 1101 (1996).

Besides Division I's decision increasing the difficulty of proving violations of WLAD, it leaves employees without a remedy for discrimination and retaliation at the hands of direct supervisors, co-workers,

_

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