FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
2/23/2021 12:42 PM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

No. 99333-5

---

**SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

ABUBACARR WAGGEH,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, and  
MIKE OBENLAND, MCC SUPERINTENDENT, and DANIEL W.  
WHITE, SUPERINTENDENT OF SPECIAL OFFENDER  
UNIT/INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT UNIT,

Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

ANDREW BIGGS  
Assistant Attorney General  
WSBA #11746  
800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 389-3804  
OID #91019

**

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

##### **A. This Appeal Raises Limited Issues under Controlling Precedent Related to the Department’s Decision to Terminate Waggeh’s Employment**

From the start, the issues in this appeal have been properly limited to whether there is sufficient, competent evidence in the record to support Waggeh’s claims of race discrimination and retaliation based on the Department’s specific decision to terminate his employment. *Not* at issue is whether the Department subjected Waggeh to a hostile or racist work environment. Although Waggeh initially alleged a hostile work

environment theory of liability, he voluntarily dismissed that claim to appeal the trial court's dismissal of the claims that *are* the focus in this appeal: claims alleging disparate treatment and retaliation.

Now, in an attempt to demonstrate an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Waggeh tries to transform this case into a sweeping indictment of the Department to distract from his lengthy and documented history of sexual misconduct and inappropriate behavior towards the wives and girlfriends of offenders in his charge. It is not disputed that society at large must deal with problems of systemic racism, but the question here is whether Waggeh has demonstrated that either race discrimination or retaliation was a substantial factor in *his* termination. This Court should reject Waggeh's late effort to reframe this appeal into something it is not and never was.

**B. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Conflict with Controlling Pretext Authority Requiring a Plaintiff to Demonstrate Discrimination Was a "Substantial Factor" in an Adverse Employment Action**

In analyzing claims of discrimination and retaliation, Washington follows the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework, where a plaintiff bears the initial burden to establish a prima facie case. *Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cnty.*, 189 Wn.2d 516, 526-27, 404 P.3d 464 (2017) (discussing discrimination claims); *Cornwell v. Microsoft Corp.*, 192 Wn.2d 403, 411, 430 P.3d 229 (2018) (discussing retaliation claims). Under that framework, if plaintiff establishes a prima facie case, a rebuttable presumption of discrimination arises. *Mikkelsen*,

189 Wn.2d at 527. The burden then shifts to the defendant to “articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action.” *Id.* (quoting *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 446, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)). If the defendant meets its burden, the plaintiff must “produce sufficient evidence showing that the defendant’s alleged nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action was a pretext.” *Id.* (citing same).

A plaintiff can meet this third prong of showing pretext by “offering sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact either (1) that the defendant’s reason is pretextual or (2) that although the employer’s stated reason is legitimate, discrimination nevertheless was a substantial factor motivating the employer.” *Id.* (quoting *Scrivner*, 181 Wn. 2d at 446-47). However, an employee’s subjective beliefs and assessments about their job performance are irrelevant. *Griffith v. Schnitzer Steel Indus., Inc.*, 128 Wn. App. 438, 447, 115 P.3d 1065 (2005); *see also Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 190 n.14, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (“[C]ourts must not be used as a forum for appealing *lawful* employment decisions simply because employees disagree with them.” (Emphasis in original.)); *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 19-20, 929 P.2d 396, 408 (1997) (“[C]ourts are ill-equipped to act as super personnel agencies.” (Internal quotation marks and citation omitted.)).

Here, the Court of Appeals applied the pretext standard as set forth in *Mikkelsen* and *Scrivner*. *Waggeh*, slip op. at 16-17. In affirming the trial court’s decision to dismiss Waggeh’s claims, it found that Waggeh had produced no *evidence* beyond his denials that his termination was based on

pretext. *Waggeh*, slip op at 20-21. Instead, *Waggeh* faults the Court of Appeals for considering the superintendent's good faith belief that *Waggeh* had engaged in misconduct in its analysis of pretext. *See* Petition 11-15. But it cannot reasonably be questioned that an employer's good faith can be a factor when determining whether the employer's stated reasons for termination were pretextual.

While *Scrivener* holds that a plaintiff need show only "that discrimination was a *substantial* factor in an adverse employment action, not the *only* motivating factor," a plaintiff must still do so by presenting "sufficient evidence." 181 Wn.2d at 446-47 (emphases added). Whether judgment for the employer is appropriate in a specific case depends on several factors, including: the strength of the employee's prima facie case, the probative value of the proof that the employer's explanation is false, and any other evidence that supports the employer's case and that may be considered on a motion for judgment as a matter of law. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 186. "[T]here will be instances where, although the plaintiff has established a prima facie case and set forth sufficient evidence to reject the defendant's explanation, no rational factfinder could conclude that the action was discriminatory." *Id.* at 188-89 (quoting *Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prod. Inc.*, 530 U.S. 133, 148, 120 S. Ct. 2097, 147 L. Ed. 2d 105 (2000)).

Here, *Waggeh* did not meet his burden to produce sufficient, competent evidence that the Department's reason for his termination was pretextual and that discrimination or retaliation was a substantial factor in the decision to terminate his employment. He presented no evidence that

the Department, acting through the superintendent, did not, in good faith, believe that he had engaged in the alleged misconduct. Rather, Waggeh presented only his own testimony that he disagreed with the Department's conclusions, as well as vague and conclusory statements by Sgt. Hopkins about the work environment at Monroe Correctional Complex submitted in another case. CP 122, 125, 154-157, 161. Waggeh's testimony that he "is aware of other instances . . . of other black persons who had similar experiences," however, is not legally sufficient comparator evidence. *See* CP 122, 125. Similarly, the vague and conclusory statements made by Sgt. Hopkins are not legally sufficient comparator evidence. *See* CP 154-57.

Of note, Sgt. Hopkins' declaration was prepared and filed in a completely different lawsuit, for a woman who claimed to have been terminated due to sexism and racism. CP 154-61. There is no indication that the issues in that case are similar to those at issue here and, in fact, there is no indication that Sgt. Hopkins even knows Waggeh. Sgt. Hopkins' declaration does not create a question of material fact because it contains no specific factual information relating to Waggeh's circumstances.

In addition, Waggeh improperly cites to materials relating to his Employment Security hearing. *See* Petition 7; CP 145-49. The trial court granted Defendants' objection to consideration of the Employment Security findings, and Waggeh did not raise that issue on appeal. *See Waggeh*, slip op. at 11. In any event, the trial court's decision on Defendants' objection to that evidence was correct; such evidence is barred by RCW 50.32.097 and this Court should not consider it now.

None of the evidence presented by Waggeh was sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding pretext. *See Mackey v. Home Depot USA, Inc.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 557, 585, 459 P.3d 371, *review denied*, 195 Wn.2d 1031, 468 P.3d 616 (2020) (affirming summary judgment for the employer when the employee had “not presented any direct or indirect evidence that some reason other than the results of the investigation was a substantial motivating factor for her termination”).

In taking his position that a showing of good faith on the part of the decision-maker can be offset by his own unsubstantiated statements that he was subject to discrimination, Waggeh is attempting to nullify a plaintiff’s obligation to show pretext in disparate treatment and retaliation claims. That approach would allow every plaintiff to defeat a motion for summary judgment by simply denying the underlying misconduct and claiming that he or she perceived that discrimination was present. That is not the law in Washington. As recognized in *Hill*, only when the record contains reasonable but competing inferences of discrimination will the employee be entitled to a jury decision. 144 Wn.2d at 186. Otherwise, an entire category of discrimination cases would be effectively insulated from dispositive review. *Id.* at 185. There were no such reasonable but competing inferences of discrimination or retaliation in this case.

Waggeh also attempts to raise new theories of liability to this Court by arguing that Division I’s opinion “leaves employees without a remedy for discrimination and retaliation at the hands of direct supervisors, co-workers, and, in the case of Black DOC officers, white inmates.” Petition

14-15. Waggeh contends that the decision precludes a remedy “even if a jury could reasonably find that the accusations were tainted by racist or retaliatory motives of Waggeh’s supervisors, his co-workers, and DOC inmates.” *Id.* at 15. Neither assertion by Waggeh is correct.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion in this case was necessarily limited by the claims, issues, and arguments properly raised before it. Washington law recognizes at least two theories of liability in the discrimination and retaliation context when allegations are made related to the animus of non-decisionmakers who are supervisors, co-workers, or third parties. Those theories are (1) hostile work environment claims, *see Blackburn v. State*, 186 Wn.2d 250, 260, 375 P.3d 1076 (2016);<sup>2</sup> and (2) “cat’s paw” liability claims, *see Boyd v. State, Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 187 Wn. App. 1, 6 n.1, 349 P.3d 864, (2015). *Neither* theory was at issue in this appeal and, therefore, *neither* theory was addressed by Division I in its opinion.

First, Waggeh appears to vaguely argue that his work environment was hostile and, therefore, the Department cannot obtain a summary judgment. That position overlooks the fact that Waggeh filed a hostile work environment claim, which survived the Department’s summary judgment

---

<sup>2</sup> To establish a hostile work environment claim, a plaintiff must show that the harassment “(1) was unwelcome, (2) was because of a protected characteristic, (3) affected the terms or conditions of employment, and (4) is imputable to the employer.” *Blackburn*, 186 Wn.2d at 260 (citing *Glasgow v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 103 Wn.2d 401, 406-07, 693 P.2d 708 (1985)). An employer will be responsible for harassment of the plaintiff by supervisors, coworkers, or third-party nonemployees if the employer “(a) authorized, knew, or should have known of the harassment and (b) failed to take reasonably prompt and adequate corrective action.” *LaRose v. King Cnty.*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 90, 111, 437 P.3d (2019) (quoting *Glasgow*, 103 Wn.2d at 407).

motion, but he then voluntarily dismissed that claim. Thus, his hostile work environment claim is not at issue here. While Waggeh cannot proceed on that claim, it remains a theory of liability available to other plaintiffs who can present sufficient prima facie evidence to support such a claim.

Next, Waggeh raises an argument of possible “cat’s paw” or subordinate bias liability. That claim should be rejected. “Under the cat’s paw theory, the animus of a non-decision-maker who has a singular influence may be imputed to the decision-maker.” *Boyd*, 187 Wn. App. at 6 n.1 (citing *Staub v. Proctor Hosp.*, 562 U.S. 411, 131 S. Ct. 1186, 179 L. Ed. 2d 144 (2011)). A plaintiff can rely on the cat’s paw or subordinate bias theory where he presents evidence that a supervisor’s animus was a substantial factor in the employer’s decision to discipline the plaintiff. *Id.* at 6. Subordinate bias liability recognizes that “it does not matter whether the subordinate[ ] personally ‘pull[s] the trigger’ on the adverse employment decision; the subordinate’s animus sets in motion the events that culminate in the adverse employment action.” *City of Vancouver v. State Pub. Emp. Rel. Comm’n*, 180 Wn. App. 333, 351, 325 P.3d 213 (2014) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Because the employer has delegated power or influence over employment decisions to the subordinate, any wrongful conduct on the subordinate’s part occurs within the course and scope of employment. Because the wrongful conduct occurs in the course and scope of employment, we impute the discriminatory act to the agent’s principal.

*Id.* at 351-52 (internal citations omitted).

Here, Waggeh points to no competent evidence in the record that

would establish who, specifically, the non-decision-makers motivated by alleged racial animus were, any evidence they actually held such racial animus, and whether the investigation conducted by the Department relied on facts provided by them. *See Boyd*, 187 Wn. App. at 17-19 (discussing evidence of causal connection under cat’s paw liability under substantial factor). Importantly, Waggeh has not claimed that investigator Torstvet herself was biased in any way:

“Q. And I just need to know whether you are claiming today, if you're claiming that Ms. Torstvet and all of her documents are somehow tainted or there's something wrong that happened at her end of the equation?

A. *That's not what I'm claiming.*”

CP 579 (deposition testimony of Waggeh; emphasis added.)

As discussed above, Waggeh failed to submit evidence that any specific DOC supervisor acted with improper animus or that any person acting with animus influenced the decision-maker here. As such, Waggeh’s eleventh hour resort to the new theory of cat’s paw liability fails and does not support his Petition for Review.

Further, Waggeh’s claim of possible “cat’s paw” or subordinate bias liability was not raised or briefed below, nor was it raised or briefed before the Court of Appeals until his unsuccessful reconsideration motion. It comes too late now and should not be considered. *See* RAP 9.12.

**C. To Demonstrate Pretext in His Claim of Retaliation, Waggeh Needed to Show More Than Mere Temporal Proximity to Survive Summary Judgment**

*Cornwell v. Microsoft Corp.*, 192 Wn.2d 403, 415–16, 430 P.3d 229

(2018), establishes that proximity in time can be used to create an issue of fact for the first prong of the burden-shifting framework under *Mikkelsen*. *Cornwell* itself states that “we are concerned with *only* the first step in this case.” 192 Wn.2d at 411 (emphasis added). Waggeh incongruously argues that the Court of Appeals’ opinion reads proximity of time “out of the law entirely.” See Petition 18. That, however, is flatly wrong because the instant case does *not* address the first step of the analysis; it addresses only the third. *Cornwell* does not assist with the ultimate issue before this Court – whether Waggeh produced sufficient evidence that the Department’s legitimate, non-retaliatory reason was pretextual.

Waggeh also attempts to sidestep *Mackey*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 557, in which Division II recognized that, in order to meet the pretext step of the *McDonnell Douglas* framework, a plaintiff must show more than mere temporal proximity between the protected activity and the termination. The factual and legal issues addressed in *Mackey* closely resemble this case.

Like here, the *Mackey* court was solely concerned with whether the employee presented evidence that the employer’s nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action was pretextual, or whether – even if the stated reason was legitimate – discrimination, retaliation, or violation of public policy also was a substantial motivating factor. 12 Wn. App. 2d at 581. The court explained that “*Cornwell* did not state that the proximity in time between a protected activity and termination created an inference *for purposes of showing that retaliation was a significant motivating factor* in the termination.” *Id.* (emphasis in original).

The *Mackey* court thus recognized the difference in the burden in proving a prima facie case under the first step and proving pretext under the third step of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework:

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